
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

SHERMAN DIVISION 
 

SUSAN SCOTT    * CIVIL ACTION NO.: 4:19-cv-792 
      *  
VERSUS     * MAGISTRATE: 
      *  
CODE 3 EMERGENCY    *  
PHYSICIANS, P.A.    * JUDGE: 
****************************************************************************** 
  

COMPLAINT 
 

 Plaintiff, Susan Scott, brings this action against her former employer, Code 3 Emergency 

Physicians, P.A., and alleges as follows: 

I. JURISDICTION 

1. Plaintiff brings this claim under the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. 

§201, et seq. to recover unpaid overtime compensation under §16(b) of the FLSA. This Court has 

jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §1331.   

II. PARTIES 

2. Plaintiff, Susan Scott (“Scott”), is domiciled in Dallas County, State of Texas, and 

has been employed by Defendant from approximately June 2017 through October 2019.  

3. Plaintiff Scott has consented to filing the instant action. (Exhibit “A”). 

4. Defendant Code 3 Emergency Physicians, P.A. (“Code 3”) is a Texas professional 

association with its corporate office located at 5300 Town and Country Boulevard, Suite 260, 

Frisco, Texas 75034, and may be served through its registered agent, Bryan D. Warrick at that 

same address.  
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III. VENUE 

5. Venue is proper in this District as Defendant conducted business in this Division, 

and Plaintiff performed work for Defendant in Denton County. 

6. Furthermore, Defendant’s corporate office is located in Denton County. 

IV. COVERAGE UNDER THE FLSA 

7. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Defendant was an employer within the meaning 

of 29 U.S.C. §203(d). 

8. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Defendant was an enterprise within the meaning 

of 29 U.S.C. §203(r). 

9. At all pertinent times, Defendant was an enterprise engaged in commerce or in the 

production of goods or services for commerce within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §203(s)(1).  

10. Defendant has had an annual gross volume of sales made or business done of not 

less than $500,000 (exclusive of excise taxes at the retail level which are separately stated). 

11. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Plaintiff was an individual employee engaged 

in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce as required by 29 U.S.C. §207. 

V. FACTS 

12. Defendant owns and operates emergency and urgent care medical facilities in 

Carrollton, Texas (“Carrollton”) and Mesquite, Texas (“Mesquite”). Defendant previously owned 

and operated an emergency and urgent care medical facility in Terminal D of the Dallas-Fort 

Worth Airport (“DFW-D”).  

13. Plaintiff was employed by Defendant as a Physician Assistant at Defendant’s 

Mesquite, Carrollton and DFW-D facilities and was paid on an hourly basis.  No part of Plaintiff’s 

wages were paid on a salary basis.  
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14. Plaintiff was misclassified by Defendant as an independent contractor when, in fact, 

she was an employee. Defendant required Plaintiff to sign a “Full Time Provider Independent 

Contractor Agreement” (“Agreement”), which purported to describe the relationship between 

Plaintiff and Defendant as an independent contractor relationship.  

15. Plaintiff executed her Agreement with Defendant on September 7, 2017.  

16. Although contradicted by the written rules, policies, procedures and requirements 

with which Plaintiff was required to comply, the Agreement states that Plaintiff was employed by 

Defendant as an “independent contractor.”  

17. Plaintiff was granted minimal discretion or independent judgment in the method 

and manner that her work was performed.  Instead, many aspects of Plaintiff’s job duties as a 

Physician Assistant were controlled by Defendant’s policies and procedures. Copies of 

Defendant’s policy manuals, containing the policies and procedures Plaintiff was required to 

follow regarding Code 3 protocols for treating certain diseases and conditions, were kept at each 

Code 3 facility.  

18. Plaintiff was required to perform her job under the supervision of a Code 3 

physician.  

19. Plaintiff was also frequently given additional guidelines from Defendant including, 

but not limited to, length of patient encounters, when to use certain diagnostic tests, where to 

provide patient care, how to handle medical screening of patients depending on payment method 

or insurance benefits, complying with Defendant’s classification of patients as urgent care vs. 

emergency, and when and how to transport patients to another facility.  

20. Defendant required Plaintiff to wear and display a photo identification badge at all 

facilities in a manner such that the badge was visible to patients. The identification badge that was 
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worn at the Mesquite and Carrollton facilities had Plaintiff’s photo and Code 3’s logo on the front 

and was worn clipped to the front of her scrubs. The identification badge worn at the DFW-D 

facility had Plaintiff’s photo and Code 3’s logo on the front and was worn on a lanyard around 

Plaintiff’s neck.  

21. Defendant treated Plaintiff the same as W-2 employees who worked at the DFW-

D facility. Defendant paid the fees associated with the annual background checks required by the 

Dallas-Fort Worth Airport for Plaintiff to have an airport identification badge needed to work at 

the DFW-D facility. Defendant also paid the costs of Plaintiff’s monthly parking passes for the 

employee parking lot at the Dallas-Fort Worth Airport.  

22. Defendant also treated Plaintiff the same as W-2 employees at Code 3’s other 

facilities. Plaintiffs had to work shift times scheduled by Code 3 like W-2 employees. Plaintiff also 

had to record patients’ treatment information in the same electronic medical record software and 

on the computers supplied by Code 3, the same as required of W-2 employees. Plaintiff also had 

an official Code 3 company email address like Code 3’s other W-2 employees.  

23. Defendant provided insurance coverage for Plaintiff’s employment-related 

activities. The Agreement states that Defendant will provide medical liability and malpractice 

insurance for Plaintiff with limits and coverage of not less than $1,000,000.00 per patient and 

$3,000,000.00 in the aggregate.  

24. Plaintiff used Defendant’s equipment in her work treating patients, including, but 

not limited to, exam tables, otoscopes, Wood’s lamps, blood pressure cuffs, and glucometers.  

25. Defendant also provided the supplies Plaintiff used to examine and treat patients, 

including, but not limited to, latex gloves, tongue depressors, single-use speculums for the 

otoscopes, syringes, needles, urinalysis cups, and flu/strep tests.  
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26. Defendant prohibited Plaintiff from refusing to see any patient because of race, 

color, national origin, ancestry, religion, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, age, or mental or 

physical handicap. 

27. Defendant required Plaintiff to review and complete medical records within 

specified timeframes, and “in form and content consistent with Code 3’s policies and procedures.”  

28. Plaintiff was required to participate in Defendant’s quality assurance, utilization 

reviews, and risk management programs.  

29. The determining factor as to whether Plaintiff was an employee or independent 

contractor under the FLSA cannot be regulated by any contract or by the Agreements. Instead, the 

test for determining whether an individual is an “employee” under the FLSA is the economic 

reality test. See, Rutherford Food Corp. v. McComb, 331 U.S. 722, 727 (1947). Under the 

economic reality test, employee status turns on whether the individual is, as a matter of economic 

reality, in business for herself and truly independent or, rather, is economically dependent upon 

finding employment in others.  

30. Courts generally utilize the following factors to determine economic dependence 

and employment status: 

a. The degree of control exercised by the alleged employer; 

b. The relative investment of the alleged employer and employee; 

c. The degree to which the employee’s opportunity for profit and loss is 

determined by the employer; 

d. The skill and initiative required in performing the job; 

e. The permanency of the relationship; and 
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f. The degree to which the alleged employee’s tasks are integral to the 

employer’s business. 

31. Applying the economic reality test, Plaintiff has established economic dependence 

on Defendant and that she was an employee and not an independent contractor.  

32. Plaintiffs was not in business for herself and truly independent, but rather was 

economically dependent upon employment with Defendant. 

33. Plaintiff was not engaged in an occupation or business distinct from that of 

Defendant. To the contrary, Plaintiff was the basis for Defendant’s business of providing medical 

care under the supervision of Defendant’s physicians and thus, constitute an integral part thereof. 

34. Defendant retained complete and total control over the activities of Plaintiff and 

regulated all aspects of the job.  

35. Plaintiff’s economic status was inextricably linked to conditions over which 

Defendant had complete control, including, but not limited to, the assignment and scheduled hours 

of work shifts, length of her encounters with patients, when she could use certain diagnostic tests, 

where she provided patient care, how she handled medical screening of patients depending on the 

patient’s payment method or insurance benefits, how she classified patients as urgent care vs. 

emergency, and when and how she transported patients to another facility. 

36. Plaintiff had no control over which patients she would treat, nor did she participate 

in any efforts to increase Defendant’s patient base.  

37. Plaintiff’s financial investment is minor compared to the investment made by 

Defendant in the business at hand. All capital and risk belong to Defendant. Absent Defendant’s 

investment in the provision of patients that Plaintiff examines, no money would be earned.  
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38. The job of Plaintiff as a Physician Assistant is an integral part of Defendant’s 

business operating healthcare facilities and are critical to Defendant’s success.  

VI. VIOLATION OF THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT FOR FAILURE TO PAY 
OVERTIME COMPENSATION 

 
39. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs.  

40. Defendant paid Plaintiff straight time for all hours worked and failed to pay an 

overtime premium for all hours worked over forty (40) in a workweek. 

41. Plaintiff was not compensated in accordance with the FLSA because she was not 

paid overtime wages for all hours worked over forty (40) hours in a workweek for all weeks. 

42. Plaintiff’s hours varied from week to week during her employment with Defendant 

but she regularly worked more than forty (40) hours in a workweek.   

43. For instance, during the workweek of May 20, 2018 to May 26, 2018, Plaintiff 

worked seventy-four and one half (74.5) hours.  She was paid her regular hourly rate for all hours 

worked but was denied an overtime premium for the thirty-four and one half (34.5) hours she 

worked over forty (40) during that workweek. 

44. For the work period of May 27, 2018 to June 2, 2018, Plaintiff was paid her hourly 

rate for eight-two (82) hours of work.  She was not paid an overtime premium for the forty-two 

(42) hours worked in excess of forty (40) during that workweek.  

45. Pursuant to the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §207, employers are generally required to pay 

overtime compensation at an hourly rate of 150% of an employee’s regular rate of pay for hours 

worked over forty (40) in a workweek. 

46. Defendant violated the provisions of Section 7 of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §§ 207 and 

215(a)(2), by not paying Plaintiff overtime. 
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47. Defendant knowingly, willfully, or in reckless disregard of the law, maintained an 

illegal practice of failing to pay Plaintiff overtime compensation for all hours worked over forty 

(40) by failing to pay during her employment. 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Susan Scott, prays for judgment in her favor and against 

Defendant, Code 3 Emergency Physicians, P.A., as follows: 

1. For an Order finding Defendant liable for unpaid back overtime wages due to 

Plaintiff and for liquidated damages equal in amount to the unpaid compensation; 

2. For an award of costs of this action; 

3. For an award of attorneys’ fees; 

4. For an award of pre- and post-judgment interest; and 

5. For any and all other and further relief, including but not limited to consequential 

damages, as may be necessary and appropriate. 

JURY DEMAND 
 

 Plaintiff demands a trial by jury. 

      Respectfully Submitted: 
 
      By:   /s/ Philip Bohrer      
       Philip Bohrer (Bar Roll No. 14089) 
       phil@bohrerbrady.com  
       Scott E. Brady (Bar Roll No. 24976) 
       scott@bohrerbrady.com  
       BOHRER BRADY, LLC 
       8712 Jefferson Highway, Suite B 
       Baton Rouge, Louisiana   70809 
       Telephone: (225) 925-5297 
       Facsimile: (225) 231-7000 

Case 4:19-cv-00792-ALM   Document 1   Filed 10/30/19   Page 8 of 8 PageID #:  8

mailto:phil@bohrerbrady.com
mailto:scott@bohrerbrady.com

